# Seropositivity and Adverse Birth Events in Migrants From Bilharzia-endemic Areas

NCT03158298

Date: 2.10.2015

## Study Protocol and Statistical Analysis Plan

### **Project Objectives**

The aim of the proposed research project is to study the impact of Schistosomiasis on adverse birth outcomes (ABO) (as defined by low birth weight) in migrants to Europe from *Schistosoma*-endemic areas. This project will examine if pregnancies in *Schistosoma*-infected women are associated with reduced birth weight, premature delivery and stillbirth of the exposed infants.

#### Purpose:

To examine the association between Schistosomiasis seropositivity and adverse pregnancy outcomes. Hypothesis: In pregnant women from endemic areas for schistosomiasis, positive *Schistosoma* serology is associated with reduced birth weight in the infant.

#### Rationale:

Schistosomiasis is a widespread helminthic infection, with an estimated 249 million people in 78 countries requiring preventive antiparasitic therapy each year. This infection has a significant association with morbidity worldwide. In most endemic areas long lasting urogenital schistosomiasis constitutes a risk factor for bladder cancer<sub>1,2</sub>. In a study performed in Malawi the reproductive tract was affected in more than 60% of women who excreted *S. haematobium* ova in urine<sub>3</sub>. Transplacental transmission has not been observed, but schistosomiasis of the pregnant uterus has been reported and placental schistosomiasis has been associated with stillbirth<sub>4,5</sub>. Placental schistosomiasis (i.e. detection of schistosomiasis eggs in placental tissue) has been reported only occasionally, but to our knowledge no study has prospectively examined this<sub>5,10,11</sub>. Schistosomiasis has been postulated to be associated with premature delivery and low birth weighte-9, but further data are required.

Migration to the EU was estimated at 1.7 million people in 2012. Migrants were predominantly from Africa and Asia (25 %, respectively)<sub>12</sub>. In these areas schistosomiasis has an estimated prevalence of 10-20%<sub>13-15</sub>. Therefore there are a large number of migrants from schistosomiasis-endemic areas entering Europe and accessing health care. Many of these migrants are unaware of helminthic infections they may have been exposed to, and the potential outcomes these infections may have.

### Methodology:

A prospectively ascertained cross-sectional study using mother-child data pairs will be conducted in pregnant migrants attending for medical care in Rome, Dublin and Jena from *Schistosoma*-endemic areas.

Inclusion criteria: Pregnant women >18 years originally from endemic countries and areas (as defined by WHO) who give written informed consent to the study.

Exclusion criteria: Placental pathology due to any cause and any other medical condition affecting fetal growth.

Primary analysis: Association between Schistosoma seropositivity and birth weight (details below).

Secondary analyses: Association between Schistosoma seropositivity and intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR)<sub>16</sub> (defined as birth weight below the 10<sup>th</sup> birth weight percentile), stillbirth and premature delivery. Assessments: A questionnaire (see below) will be completed on each subject including demographics, age, medical history, and history of *Schistosoma* infection. Data concerning the primary (birth weight percentiles) and secondary outcomes (intrauterine growth restriction, stillbirth and premature delivery) will be collected. The necessary values consist of gestational age, weight and sex of the new born. Gestational age will be either determined by ultrasound or by calculation of the last menstrual period. Schistosoma-specific antibody detection will be performed locally on serum by a commercially available *in vitro* diagnostics certified qualitative ELISA test.

Questionnaires: Known categorical variables that are affecting fetal growth are smoking, alcohol, diabetes, baby gender, ethnic origin and parity. Known continuous variables are birth weight, gestational length, maternal height and weight<sub>24</sub>. The country of origin will provide the ethnic origin more precisely. Medical conditions and concomitant medication of the mother are documented. Relevant laboratory parameters - if available from the clinical routine – will be added to the dataset: Hemoglobin, Eosinophils, HIV-status and Hepatitis B and C status (Hbs-Ag, Anti-HCV). Factors resulting from exposition that can influence serological results are: previous history of Bilharzia, previous treatment and time since previous treatment of Bilharzia, fresh water contacts in the area of origin or on the way to Europe, time since migration to Europe and the type of travel to Europe. Data will be collected with a standardized case report form (eCRF) and will be pseudonymised at source. Property transfer for material (placenta and serum) is part of the questionnaire.

<u>Sample size estimates</u>: We estimated that n=200 mother-newborn pairs can be realistically ascertained within the funding period in the participating study centers in Germany, Italy and Ireland. Furthermore,

we expect 20% of the serologic tested samples to be positive (i.e.  $n_{positive}\approx40$ ;  $n_{negative}\approx160$  based on previous literature<sub>13-15</sub>). Intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) is defined by birth weight below the 10th percentile of the reference curves. It occurs in 5-10% of all pregnancies and can be compared across multi-ethnic populations<sub>16,18-20</sub>. We hypothesize that serologic positivity will result in reduced birth weight. In the given setting of our project, a study with n=200 mother-newborn pairs has a power of 80% to detect a standardized mean difference in birth weight percentiles of 0.5 (in units of standard deviations of a standard normal distribution; a moderate effect according to Cohen) at a significance level  $\alpha=5\%$ (two-sided; planning by Student's test for 4:1 sample size ratio; nQuery 3.0).

Statistical analysis: The primary analysis will be a Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test to compare birth weight percentile distributions between the two groups of newborns born to seronegative and seropositive mothers (at a two-sided significance level  $\alpha$ =5%). We will also evaluate known factors that influence birth weight (see above in paragraph questionnaire) in univariate regression models for the birth weight percentile outcome. Single confounders with a potential impact on the relationship between serum-status and birth weight percentile will be included in multiple linear regression models based on the univariate results (p<0.2). Similar to these sensitivity analyses, all other inferential statistics to compare the secondary outcomes between the two groups of negative and serum-positive newborns will be done exploratively using Fishers exact tests for the dichotomous variables (IUGR, stillbirth and premature delivery) while reporting the respective effects size estimates and 95% confidence intervals.

#### References

1. Richter J RA. Schistosomiasis oder Bilharziose. In: Löscher T. BGD, ed. Tropenmedizin in Klinik und Praxis. 4 ed. Stuttgart & New York2010:676-703.

2. Mostafa MH BA, O'Connor PJ. Bladder cancer associated with schistosomiasis. Parasitology Today 1995;11:87-9.

3. Kjetland EF, Poggensee G, Helling-Giese G, et al. Female genital schistosomiasis due to Schistosoma haematobium. Clinical and parasitological findings in women in rural Malawi. Acta Trop 1996;62:239-55.

4. Youssef AF, Abdine FH. Bilharziasis of the pregnant uterus. The Journal of obstetrics and gynaecology of the British Empire 1958;65:991-3.

5. Bittencourt AL, Cardoso de Almeida MA, lunes MA, Casulari da Motta LD. Placental involvement in schistosomiasis mansoni. Report of four cases. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene 1980;29:571-5.

6. Friedman JF, Mital P, Kanzaria HK, Olds GR, Kurtis JD. Schistosomiasis and pregnancy. Trends in parasitology 2007;23:159-64.

7. Olds GR. Administration of praziquantel to pregnant and lactating women. Acta Trop 2003;86:185-95.

8. Siegrist D, Siegrist-Obimpeh P. Schistosoma haematobium infection in pregnancy. Acta Trop 1992;50:317-21.

9. Siza JE. Risk factors associated with low birth weight of neonates among pregnant women attending a referral hospital in northern Tanzania. Tanzania journal of health research 2008;10:1-8.

10. Renaud R, P. Brettes, C. Castanier, and R. Loubiere. Placental Bilharziasis. International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics 1972:24-30.

11. Schleenvoigt BT, Gajda M, Baier M, et al. Placental Schistosoma haematobium infection in a German returnee from Malawi. Infection 2014.

12. Migration and migrant population statistics 2015. at <u>http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-</u>explained/index.php/Migration\_and\_migrant\_population\_statistics.)

13. Sadlier CM, Brown A, Lambert JS, Sheehan G, Mallon PW. Seroprevalence of Schistosomiasis and Strongyloides infection in HIV-infected patients from endemic areas attending a European infectious diseases clinic. AIDS research and therapy 2013;10:23.

14. Ceccarelli G, d'Ettorre G, Riccardo F, et al. Urinary schistosomiasis in asylum seekers in Italy: an emergency currently undervalued. Journal of immigrant and minority health / Center for Minority Public Health 2013;15:846-50.

15. Roca C, Balanzo X, Gascon J, et al. Comparative, clinico-epidemiologic study of Schistosoma mansoni infections in travellers and immigrants in Spain. European journal of clinical microbiology & infectious diseases : official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology 2002;21:219-23.

16. Marsal K. Intrauterine growth restriction. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2002;14:127-35.

17. Schistosomiasis, Fact sheet N°115. WHO, 2013. at

http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs115/en/.)

18. Villar J, Cheikh Ismail L, Victora CG, et al. International standards for newborn weight, length, and head circumference by gestational age and sex: the Newborn Cross-Sectional Study of the INTERGROWTH-21st Project. Lancet 2014;384:857-68.

19. Vedmedovska N, Rezeberga D, Teibe U, Melderis I, Donders GG. Placental pathology in fetal growth restriction. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2011;155:36-40.

20. Aucott SW, Donohue PK, Northington FJ. Increased morbidity in severe early intrauterine growth restriction. J Perinatol 2004;24:435-40.

21. Kinkel HF, Dittrich S, Baumer B, Weitzel T. Evaluation of eight serological tests for diagnosis of imported schistosomiasis. Clinical and vaccine immunology : CVI 2012;19:948-53.

22. Correa-Oliveira R, Golgher DB, Oliveira GC, et al. Infection with Schistosoma mansoni correlates with altered immune responses to Ascaris lumbricoides and hookworm. Acta tropica 2002;83:123-32.

23. Capron M, Capron A, Abdel-Hafez SK, Bazin H, Joseph M, Phillips SM. Immunologic response of athymic rats to Schistosoma mansoni infection. II. Antibody-dependent mechanisms of resistance. Journal of immunology 1983;131:1475-80.

24. Jacobsson B, Ahlin K, Francis A, Hagberg G, Hagberg H, Gardosi J. Cerebral palsy and restricted growth status at birth: population-based case-control study. BJOG 2008;115:1250-5.